FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO: **SC06-1224**

$\mathbf{\Omega}$	D	T		T	NI		T
v	K	1	U	1	IN	A	L

Lower Tribunal No.

RICK BARNETT, as Bay County Property Appraiser, etc., et al.,

1D05-1731

Petitioner,

VS.

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES,

Respondent.	

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER RICK BARNETT, BAY COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER

Larry E. Levy

Fla Bar No. 047019 The Levy Law Firm 1828 Riggins Lane Tallahassee, Florida 32308 Telephone: 850/219-0220

Facsimile: 850/219-0177

Counsel for petitioner, Rick Barnett, Bay County Property Appraiser

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Rick Barnett, Bay County Property Appraiser, will be referred to herein as the "property appraiser." Peggy Brannon, Bay County Tax Collector, will be referred to herein as the "tax collector." Respondent, Department of Management Services, will be referred to herein as "DMS." References to the record on appeal from the First District Court of Appeal will be delineated as (R-page #). References to the record on appeal from the circuit court will be delineated as (R-volume #-page #).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before this Court on certified question from the First District Court of Appeal pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). The question certified is as follows:

WHETHER IN ENACTING CHAPTER 957, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED THAT PRISON FACILITIES CONSTRUCTED AND OPERATED BY PRIVATE CONTRACTORS AND LEASED TO THE STATE OF FLORIDA UNDER A LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT SHALL BE SUBJECT TO AD VALOREM TAXES?

Barnett v. Dept. of Management Servs., 31 Fla. L. Weekly D1419, 1422 (Fla. 1st DCA May 22, 2006) (R-38)

This case was commenced with the filing of a complaint in Bay County, Florida, by the Correctional Privatization Commission (CPC) against the property appraiser and the tax collector challenging the 1999 assessment of the subject property. (R-I-1-4) A Notice of Redenomination of Plaintiff was filed in July 2004, substituting the Department of Management Services (DMS) as the plaintiff. (R-I-197)

The complaint alleged that the CPC was the owner of the real and tangible personal property which was the subject of the lawsuit, and that the property was illegally assessed by the property appraiser. (R-I-1) Paragraph 2 of the complaint stated:

2. The Plaintiff, CORRECTIONAL PRIVATIZATION COMMISSION ('CPC'), is an agency of the State of Florida created in Chapter 957. Pursuant to Section 957.04(8), it is the owner of the real and tangible personal property, the subject of this lawsuit, which is illegally assessed by Defendant Property Appraiser. The Bay County Correctional Facility Finance Corporation holds bare legal title to the subject real property; it does so simply as a financing medium for the State. The State is the owner of the tangible personalty.

(<u>Id.</u>, emphasis added.) The complaint alleged that the property was owned by the state and immune from ad valorem taxation. (R-I-2) Similar complaints were filed for tax years 2000, 2001, and 2002. (R-I-82; I-128; I-160) The court ultimately entered an order consolidating the four cases purposes of trial. (R-I-184)

The property appraiser initially filed an answer to the 1999 complaint but subsequently withdrew same and moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a cause of action and for failure to join an indispensable party. (R-I-10; I-13; I-15) The property appraiser filed similar motions to dismiss in response to the complaints for tax years 2000, 2001, and 2002. (R-I-86; I-131; I-172) These motions subsequently were denied. (R-II-218-219) In response to the 1999 case, the tax collector filed an answer which contained affirmative defenses to the complaint. (R-I-5)

As part of the motions to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action, the property appraiser contended that the complaints should be dismissed because

they did not allege that the CPC was the owner of such property as identified therein, and, in fact, the complaints alleged that title to the property was held by Bay County Private Correctional Facility Finance Corporation (finance corporation). (R-I-1; I-82; I-128; I-160) Attached to the property appraiser's motions was a copy of the complaint filed by the CPC in Bay County Circuit Court Case No. 97-1787, identified as exhibit #1, and a copy of the trial court's order dismissing that complaint identified as exhibit #2. (R-I-19-37; I-90-108; I-135-153) As part of the property appraiser's motions, it was contended that the CPC had failed to join two indispensable parties, one of which was the finance corporation and the other was Corrections Corporation of America (CCA), and section 11.7 of the contract between CPC and CCA was quoted in the property appraiser's motions to dismiss. (RI-17)

Subsequently, in January 2003, the tax collector filed a motion for partial summary judgment concerning partial payment of ad valorem taxes. (R-I-52) In the tax collector's motion it was noted that the Florida Legislature had approved an appropriation to pay the ad valorem taxes otherwise due on the subject property since 1998, although the 2001 tax payment was only a partial payment. (R-I-53)

The 1999 complaint was the third lawsuit filed by the CPC challenging the assessment of ad valorem taxes against the subject property. In

1997, two suits were filed both of which resulted in decisions adverse to the position of the CPC. (Bay County Circuit Court Case Nos. 97-1787-CA and 97-3510-CA; R-I-52; I-57; R-IV-14-15; IV-80).

By order of the trial court, the complaints challenging the 2000, 2001, and 2002 assessments of the subject property were consolidated with the 1999 lawsuit for purposes of trial. (R-I-126; I-158; I-182; I-184) It is the trial court's Amended Final Judgment adjudicating the rights of the parties in these four cases which is before this court on appeal. (R-II-373)

The first complaint filed by the CPC in 1997 challenging the property appraiser's assessment of the subject properties for tax years 1995, 1996, and 1997 was filed in July 1997. (R-I-15-37; I-86-108; I-131-153) No complaint was filed challenging the property appraiser's assessment of the subject properties for tax year 1998. (R-II-243) In the first 1997 lawsuit, the property appraiser filed a motion to dismiss the complaint on the basis that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, and the CPC responded by contending that the owner of the property was the state and, accordingly, was not bound by the 60-day jurisdictional time period for filing suit. (R-I-26) The trial court, speaking through Judge Michael Overstreet and after a hearing and review of briefs, entered an Order granting the property appraiser's motion to dismiss for tax years 1995 and 1996 with prejudice,

and as to tax year 1997, permitted the CPC to file an amended complaint within a 30-day time period. (R-I-23-37)

The CPC elected not to file an amended complaint and, instead, filed a new lawsuit, case no. 97-3510, making essentially the same allegations as made in the first complaint. (Request for Judicial Notice admitted at Trial) No appeal was taken by the CPC from the trial court's order dismissing with prejudice the complaint as to tax years 1995 and 1996.

After hearing and review of the legal memorandum filed by the CPC, Judge Overstreet found that the second 1997 lawsuit, case no. 97-3510, attempted to re-litigate the precise issues raised in the first 1997 lawsuit, case no. 97-1787, and that such barred by res judicata. (Request for Judicial Notice admitted at Trial) Thereafter, the CPC filed an appeal to this court which subsequently was dismissed by order of the court dated May 25, 1999. See Correctional Privatization Comm'n v. Peggy Brannon, No. 1D99-392 (Fla. 1st DCA May 25, 1999).

After some discovery and depositions in the instant consolidated cases, a non-jury trial was held based in large part on the stipulation of the parties. (R-II-310-327) The stipulation identified the pertinent documents and the facts were not in dispute. Subsequently, the trial court entered an Order in favor of DMS finding that the property was not taxable. (R-II-336-342) DMS filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment and, after further hearing, the trial court

amended the judgment to make it clear that it did not apply to any tax years prior to 1999. (R-II-373-379) The property appraiser timely filed a notice of appeal to the district court and the tax collector filed a notice of joinder in the appeal. (R-II-380-381; II-397-398) DMS also timely filed a notice of cross-appeal. (R-II-395-396)

The district court rendered its decision finding that the case was controlled by this Court's decision in <u>Leon County Educ. Facilities Auth. v.</u>

Hartsfield, 698 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1997). <u>Barnett v. Dept. of Management Servs.</u>, 31

Fla. L. Weekly D903 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 27, 2006). (R-5) On motions for rehearing, the district court issued a revised decision reaching the same conclusion, and certified to this Court the question previously stated. <u>Barnett</u>, 31 Fla. L. Weekly at 1422. (R-38)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties entered into a stipulation of facts which in large part identifies the various documents which are involved with regard to the acquisition of the property, construction, financing, and management of the correctional facility. (R-II-310-327) In 1993, the legislature enacted chapter 957, Florida Statutes, through chapter 93-406, Laws of Florida, to create the "Correctional Privatization Commission," and to allow for it to enter into contracts for the operation of private correctional facilities. (R-VI-445-452) The statute sets forth the qualifications for the commission members, fixes the terms of office, and sets

forth the commission's duties with regard to fulfilling the purpose as specified in this statute. (Id.) See § 957.03, Fla. Stat. (1995). The Act was amended in 1994 and 1995 in chapter 94-148, section 2, Laws of Florida, chapter 95-283, section 49, Laws of Florida, and chapter 95-325, section 23, Laws of Florida.

The Bay County Private Correctional Facility Finance Corporation (finance corporation) is a paper entity created in 1994 to facilitate financing and has no employees or officers. The situation is explained by the department to the trial court as follows:

But, essentially, the way it works is that an RFP is put out, and a contractor responds, and is solicited, and responds, and is awarded a bid to acquire the land, build the property, build the prison, if you will, and operate it. And then a financing is structured. Very typical, very similar to the way school boards often do it. And the way it works is because the state cannot legally mortgage its property, there is no mortgage on the interest of the state. What happens is there is an entity created to hold bare legal title, which, in this case, was the Financing Corporation. And that entity enters a lease back, where the real property and [sic] interest, which was the Correctional Privatization Commission, has now been - its duties are being merged into the Department of Management Services. But it's, essentially, the state is the lessee.

(R-IV-8-9, emphasis added.) Thereafter, it was further explained as follows:

Your Honor, there will be an issue about a mortgage, because it's been raised in the brief of the - - of the property appraiser. There is, in this situation, in this case, <u>a mortgage</u>. However, the crucial fact is that there is no mortgage on the interest of the state. The mortgage

is only on the - - the mortgage is subordinate to the interest of the state. In fact, the mortgage says that as long as the state makes its lease payments, that mortgage is subordinate to the state's interest. The state has not mortgaged it's property.

(R-IV-11, emphasis added.) Continuing it was stated:

The Finance Corporation, <u>as the fee title holder</u>, the one actually holding the deed during the financing, is to - - it also grants a mortgage of its <u>interest to the trustee</u>. All for the benefit of the certificate holders. They purchase those certificates, proceeds from the sell [sic] go to the trustee. The trustee dispensed payments, the proceeds of the bonds, in two places. <u>One to fund the purchase of the land</u>, put it in the name of the Finance Corporation.

(R-IV-22, emphasis added.) Thereafter it was stated:

The state chose, through legislative wisdom, to instead of do a state-bond issue for the prisons, to do a Lease Purchase Financing structure, which is what this is. In order to do a Lease Purchase Financing, you have to create a legal fiction of a lessor and a lessee because you have to have a lessor to lease from in order to have a lease agreement. You can't have a lease agreement with yourself.

So, the <u>Finance Corporation</u> is set up to hold the title in <u>order to have a lease</u> with the state, and then all of those <u>rights</u> are then assigned to the <u>trustee for the trustee to</u> deal with the bondholders. And, at that point, this is your triangle; essentially back to where you would have been had it not been a state-bond issue.

(R-IV-24-25, emphasis added.) Continuing it was stated:

Now, the difference with this is <u>technically the state has</u> the legal ability to say, we don't want this prison anymore. We are going to walk away from it, because it's annual appropriation. In a year they say, we don't

want it. We're not going to appropriate money for it. And they do it. And they have done this with one building, as a matter of fact, which is now where the National High Magnetics Laboratory is, FSU, about 10 years ago.

(R-IV-25, emphasis added.) Thereafter it was stated:

On June 23, 1994, they entered into the initial operating agreement with a private operator to operate it once it was build. On June 23, 1994, the Finance Corporation issued its mortgage and assignment of leases and all other documents to the trustee under the trust, which was established as of June 23, 1994. And on June 23, 1994, the certificate holders paid to the trustee a little over thirty million dollars, which was then disbursed over the next 12 to 18 months to acquire and construct a facility. And has since then been repaid, according to the payment schedules, by the state of Florida through annual appropriations. All of this goes back to the date the state took title, June 23, 1994.

(R-IV-47, emphasis added.) The financing corporation, Bay County Private Correctional Facilities Finance Corporation, originally created by the contractor was made up of three people who were residents of Minnesota. They were subsequently replaced by persons with the CPC in 2001. (R-IV-64-65) The statute required the contractor to arrange for its own financing. See 957.04(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1999).

The Lease Agreement with Option to Purchase dated May 1, 1994, recognizes that it is the contractor who is buying the property and constructing the facilities stating:

3.3. Failure to Complete Acquisition and Construction. The Lessor and the Lessee mutually agree that in the event of the failure of CCA to complete the acquisition of the Land or the construction of the Project by the Substantial Completion Date and then to achieve the Completion Date within 45 days thereafter pursuant to the Development Agreement, that the Lessee shall incur damages that are not ascertainable as to amount as of the date hereof. Therefore, upon such failure to so acquire or construct by CCA, CCA has agreed to pay to the Lessee liquidated damages for such failure as specified in the Development Agreement. The payment of such liquidated damages shall be the Lessee's sole remedy for such failure.

(R-VI-503, emphasis added)

Section 11.7 of the Operation and Management Services Contract relates to taxes, liens, and assessments and provides that the contractor shall pay or make provision for the payment of all taxes and assessments levied or assessed by federal, state or local government on the facility, or any machinery or equipment installed or located thereon. (R-IX-1157-1159) It states in part:

Taxes, Liens and Assessments. CONTRACTOR shall:
(i) pay, or make provision for payment of all lawful taxes and assessments levied or assessed by the Federal, State or any local government on the Facility or any machinery, equipment or other property installed or located by CONTRACTOR therein or thereon, or upon the Financing Corporation with respect to the Facility or any part thereof, including any taxes levied upon or with respect to the income or revenues of the Financing Corporation from the Facility, or upon any payments pursuant to the Lease/Purchase Agreement; (ii) not create or suffer to be created any lien or charge upon the Facility or any part thereof; (iii) pay or cause to be

discharged or make adequate provision to satisfy and discharge, within sixty (60) days after the same shall come into force, any lien or charge upon the Facility or any part thereof and all lawful claims or demand for labor, materials, supplies or other charges which, if unpaid, might be or become a lien upon the Facility or any part thereof, except Permitted Encumbrances, as defined in the Lease/Purchase Agreement with respect to the Facility entered into by and between COMMISSION and the Financing Corporation; and (iv) pay all utility charges, including "service charges", incurred or imposed with respect to the Facility.

(<u>Id.</u>, emphasis added) Paragraph 8.1 of the lease -purchase agreement permits the lessee to challenge the assessment of real estate taxes. (R-VI-521) This is the original lease agreement.

Pertinent Documents

A. Mortgage and Security Agreement.

Review of the various documents and information reflects that the subject property on which the correctional facility is located resulted from a conveyance of a parcel of real property by warranty deed dated June 23, 1994, in which the property as described therein was conveyed by the Panama City Port Authority (authority) to the Bay County Private Correctional Facility Finance Corporation (finance corporation). (R-II-312; R-VI-473-476) A second

¹The port authority had contractually agreed to sell the subject property to Corrections Corporation of America (CCA) for the purpose of constructing a private prison. This resulted in a suit being filed by the tenants of the industrial park against the port authority contending that the operation of a private prison was

conveyance occurred by corporate warranty deed dated September 24, 1996, from Corrections Corporation of America (CCA) to Bay County (county). This parcel apparently is not involved in this suit.

Prior to final consummation of the financing arrangement an approval opinion (bond opinion) was obtained from the law firm of Bryant, Miller & Olive, P.A., which, after review of all documents, concluded that no constitutional infringement resulted from the arrangement, and that the arrangement resulted in the CPC being a lessee. (R-II-210-212) Thereafter, all documents were executed and certificates of participation (COP) were sold. (R-VII-677-679)

The finance corporation executed a mortgage and security agreement in favor of Nations Bank of Florida, N.A. (trustee), on May 1, 1994, and simultaneously entered into a trust indenture with the mortgagee (trustee) as of May 1, 1994, pursuant to which \$30,235,000.00 certificates of participation were sold to finance the construction of the facility and the acquisition of any property needed for the operation thereof. (R-II-315; R-VI-562-659; VI-587; R-VII-680-713) The certificates of participation evidence fractional undivided interests of the owners thereof in the basic rent payments to be made under a "lease agreement"

not an "industrial use." See Panama City Port Auth. Industrial Park Civil Improvement Assoc., Inc. v. Panama City Port Authority, Case No. 94-851, referenced in the joint stipulation of which judicial notice was taken. The contract was assigned to the finance corporation.

with option to purchase entered into between the financing corporation and the State of Florida, Correctional Privatization Commission (CPC). (R-VI-477-554; R-VII-677-679) The Mortgage and Security Agreement contains the following provisions:

WHEREAS, the Mortgagor has acquired a fee estate in the "Land," as hereinafter defined, for the purpose of constructing and equipping a 750 bed correctional facility thereon (the "Project") by the Mortgagor for lease to the Commission pursuant to a Lease Agreement with Option to Purchase dated as of May 1, 1994, (the "Lease Purchase Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Mortgagor will acquire certain items of equipment (the "Equipment") to be used in conjunction with the Project and leased to the Commission pursuant to the Lease Purchase Agreement;

(R-II-313; R-VII-680) The mortgagor is the paper entity, the finance corporation, which was created solely for that purpose. (R-IV-24-25) The Trust Indenture which also is referenced in the Mortgage and Security Agreement contains the obligation of the mortgagor to pay the mortgagee the amount set forth as stated at page 2 of the agreement:

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