SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC06-1224

RICK BARNETT, Bay County Property Appraiser, et al.,

Troperty Appraiser, et al.,	
Petitioners,	Lower Tribunal No. 1D05-1731
vs.	
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES,	
Respondent.	/

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES

ROBERT C. REID, ESQ. Florida Bar I.D. No. 0832790 THERESA PROCTOR, ESQ. Florida Bar I.D. No. 0810401 Bryant Miller Olive P.A. 101 North Monroe Street, Suite 900 Tallahassee, FL 32301 850/222-8611 MICHAEL S. DAVIS, ESQ. Florida Bar I.D. No. 0804398 Bryant Miller Olive P.A. One Tampa City Center, Suite 2700 Tampa, FL 33602 813/273-6677

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The case before the court actually involves several interconnected, well-settled principles of law, and does not represent a disagreement among the District Courts as to the current state of the law. The District Court's reliance on *Leon County Education Facilities Authority v. Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1997) was rightfully taken. The essential question before the Court in the *Hartsfield*

decision was whether the Leon County Educational Facilities Authority was the "equitable owner" of the student dormitory under the lease purchase agreement for purposes of ad valorem taxation, and not whether the dormitory was eligible for an ad valorem tax exemption. Indeed, it was agreed by the parties in *Hartsfield* that the financed project would qualify for an "exemption" if the Leon County Educational Facilities Authority was determined to be the "owner" for purposes of ad valorem taxation. *Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d at 529.

It is settled law that the State and its political subdivisions are immune from taxation, and such immunity can only be waived by a clear expression of such waiver by the Legislature, if indeed the Constitution would even permit such a waiver. The statutes providing for an exemption from local taxes simply do not and can not apply to the State in light of its immunity.

Many of the arguments proffered by the Property Appraiser as to Legislative intent rely on misquotations of applicable Florida Statutes. For example, contrary to the Property Appraiser's statements, Section 957.03(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1999), does not require the private vendor to "provide its own financing" but rather, provides that "the Commission shall enter into a contract or contracts with one contractor per facility for the . . . financing . . . of that facility " There is a significant legal difference between these two statements. Based on these misstatements as to what Florida Statutes provide, the Property Appraiser seeks to

draw a distinction between the underlying stipulated facts of the instant case and the virtually identical stipulated facts underlying the *Hartsfield* decision. A simple review of the stipulated facts referenced in the *Hartsfield* decision will demonstrate the similarity of the underlying facts in these two cases.

Further, the Property Appraiser continues to imply that there exist specific statements regarding "ad valorem taxes" in Chapter 957, Florida Statutes. A simple phrase search of Chapter 957, Florida Statutes, will demonstrate the fact that the phrase "ad valorem taxes" or similar words do not currently appear in The only reference can be found in Section Chapter 957, Florida Statutes. 957.04(8), Florida Statutes (1999)², where the Legislature clarified its original intent in enacting Chapter 957, Florida Statutes, that the financed prison facilities were treated as owned by the Commission and authorized the legislature to appropriate payments in lieu of taxes to the counties where a financed prison is located. The payment of ad valorem taxes and a payment in lieu of taxes are mutually exclusive concepts. A clear reading of Chapter 957, Florida Statutes, as envisioned by this Court in *Koile v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1226 (Fla. 2006), in fact demonstrates that the Legislature clearly anticipated that the financed prisons would be treated as State property, and as such be immune from ad valorem taxes.

_

² The Legislature replaced this subsection in 2004 with a new subsection (8) relating to the Department.

There is no need for a strained reading of Chapter 957, Florida Statutes, to arrive at a contrary conclusion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case is before this Court on undisputed facts. The only issue before this Court is whether the courts below properly applied the applicable law to these facts. Based on this, the Department agrees with the Property Appraiser that this review is a *de novo* review of the application of the laws to the facts in this case. *Agency for Health Care Admin. v. Wilson*, 782 So. 2d 977, 978 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). The facts themselves are not being disputed, contested or challenged.

ARGUMENT

I. HARTSFIELD IS WELL SETTLED LAW, APPLICABLE HERE, AND NO BOND REFERENDUM WAS REQUIRED.

The concept of equitable ownership of property in the context of ad valorem taxation has long been a part of Florida law. *Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d at 528. The equitable owner's identity, not that of the holder of bare legal title is determinative of whether the Property is subject to ad valorem taxation. *See Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d at 529 (holding that the County Educational Facilities Authority's equitably owned student housing property was exempt from ad valorem tax); *First Union Nat'l Bank of Fla. v. Ford*, 636 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), *aff'f sub nom. Leon Co. Educ. Facilities Auth. v. Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1997) (holding that the Bank office building leased to the County was equitably owned by the

County and immune from tax). When property is leased from one who holds legal title through a lease-purchase agreement which shifts the benefits and burdens of ownership to the lessee and where the lessee has the right to purchase for a nominal consideration, the law will classify the lessee-purchaser as the equitable owner for purposes of assessing ad valorem taxation. See Robbins v. Mt. Sinai Med. Ctr., Inc., 748 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) (holding that the lower court wrongfully classified the lessee as the equitable owner because it lacked a true option to purchase for nominal consideration at the end of the lease term). In this situation, the owner of the bare legal title is ignored and the lessee-purchaser, classified as the equitable owner, is the owner upon which focus is placed. Hartsfield, 698 So. 2d at 529; Ford, 636 So. 2d at 527. See also Black's Law Dictionary 1137 (8th ed. 2004) (defining an equitable or beneficial owner as "one recognized in equity as the owner of something because use and title belong to that person, even though legal title may belong to someone else"). In Hartsfield, it was specifically acknowledged that the issue before the Court was whether the Authority was the equitable owner of the student housing authority, since it was also acknowledged that if the Authority was the owner, then the property would be exempt from ad valorem taxation. *Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d at 529.

The lessee-purchaser is said to hold equitable ownership in leased property under a lease-purchase financing agreement that shifts the benefits and burdens of

ownership to the lessee. The key factor in determining whether a lease conveys equitable ownership is whether it confers upon the lessee the benefits and burdens of ownership, as defined by Florida courts. A review of the facts involved in this case makes it unquestionable that the State enjoys all of the benefits and burdens of ownership, and not the lessor who only holds bare legal title as a nominal lessor in order to create the factual pattern necessary to make the lease-purchase financing structure work.

The Florida courts look to the following benefits and burdens when confronted with a claim of equitable ownership: (a) the purpose of the lease, (b) what the leased property will be used for, (c) who has the obligation to maintain the property, (d) who is responsible for securing insurance, (e) who is liable for paying taxes, and most importantly, and (f) whether there is a true option to purchase at a nominal value. *See Ford*, 636 So. 2d at 524; *Robbins*, 748 So. 2d at 351; *Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d at 527, 529-30.

The concept of equitable ownership by a lessee under a lease-purchase arrangement was probably best summarized in *Robbins*:

Valid "burdens and benefits" considered by Florida courts include the lessee's obligation to insure, maintain and pay taxes on the leased property, as well as the lessee's option to purchase the leased property at the end of the lease term. None of these factors, including an option to purchase, convey to a lessee equitable title to leased property when considered individually. However, when these factors are considered in relation to one another, the courts may determine that a lessee is the equitable owner of leased property. In considering all of these

aforementioned factors, Florida courts have only granted a lessee equitable ownership of leased property when that lessee retained an option to purchase the leased property for *nominal value*.

Robbins, 748 So. 2d at 351 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). See also Dustin Duell Deese, Recent Development: Taxation, 31 Stetson L. Rev. 541 (2002) (commenting on the Robbins decision, the author stated that "[a]lthough termed a lease, this type of transaction essentially operates as a sale, and equitable ownership is conveyed").

When, however, a lessee lacks a true option to purchase for a nominal amount, the courts will not classify that lessee an as equitable owner. In Robbins, for example, the court found that the "Lessee's payment of taxes, insurance, maintenance, and repair of the leased properties, considered in the context of the relationship between the parties, did not convey Lessee equitable title to the leased properties" because there was no true option to purchase. *Robbins*, 748 So. 2d at 352. This key factor was also discussed by the court in *Hartsfield*, where this Court held that because lessee could purchase a dormitory and food service project for one dollar, it was the project's equitable owner, and by the Court in Ford, where the Court held that lessee was the equitable owner of leased property because title would pass automatically to lessee upon full payment of debt. Hartsfield, 698 So. 2d at 527; Ford, 636 So. 2d at 524, 527. Therefore, when any security arrangement for a financed purchase requires the purchaser to simply

make a series of periodic payments, with no additional significant or material performance required at the end of the financing term, such purchaser is the equitable owner. *Robbins*, 748 So. 2d at 351-52; *Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d at 529-30; *Ford*, 636 So. 2d at 524, 527.

The State, initially through the Commission and later through the Department, leased the Property pursuant to the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement, as provided for under Chapter 957, Florida Statutes (1993), and specifically, Section 957.04(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1993). (R-VI-477-554) Under the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement, the Commission, whose powers are now held by the Department, acts as the lessee and leases the Bay Correctional Facility from the Finance Corporation which acts as the nominal lessor. The 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement vests all of the benefits and burdens of ownership in the Commission, which is the State.

The 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement vests the following benefits and burdens in the Commission as lessee:

- (a) Lessee is responsible for all repairs and maintenance of the Bay Correctional Facility. (R-VI-518)
- (b) Lessee is responsible for providing insurance for the Bay Correctional Facility. (R-VI-523-524)

- (c) Lessee indemnifies lessor and holds lessor harmless with respect to the Bay Correctional Facility. (R-VI-534)
- (d) Lessee assumes all risk of loss with respect to the Bay Correctional Facility. (R-VI-530)
- (e) The lease is a net lease, whereby the rent to be paid by the Lessee is net of all expenses to the Lessor. (R-VI-521)
- (f) Lessee has an option to purchase the financed facility (and acquire the legal title held by the Financing Corporation) at any time during the term of the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement for the remaining principal payments under the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement (which are also the principal portion of the lease payments) plus (during the early portion of the lease) a prepayment premium. This payment is described in the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement as the "concluding payment". (R-VI-532-533); (R-VI-547)
- (g) Lessee has the right to receive all of the right, title and interest of lessor automatically, upon expiration of the lease with no further payment on its part. (R-VI-532-533); (R-VI-547)

The State ultimately <u>does</u> incur all of the burdens and benefits of ownership as discussed in *Hartsfield* and *Ford*. And most importantly, upon payment of the full amount of principal due under the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement, whether at

the end of the lease period or earlier pursuant to the purchase option, the Property must be transferred to the State. The 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement provides in that regard, "Lessor as 'Optionor' hereby grants unto Lessee as 'Optionee' the irrevocable Option (the 'Option') and right to purchase the Project demised under the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement for a concluding payment during the lease equal to the remaining principal payments (plus a premium for early redemption during the early years of the lease) and at the end of the lease, a concluding payment of zero ('0')." (R-VI-532-533); (R-VI-547)

The State appropriates funds to the Commission (and now the Department) on an annual Fiscal Year basis sufficient in amount to pay the annual lease payments as required under the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement or the 2001 Lease-Purchase Agreement, as applicable and to pay the cost of operating the Bay Correctional Facility. § 957.15, Fla. Stat. (2004).

The lease payments are made to the Finance Corporation, which has assigned its interest in the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement to the Trustee, who issued the 1994 COPs to investors, which provided funds to the Finance Corporation to acquire the Property on behalf of the Commission and to allow the Commission to construct the Bay Correctional Facility thereon. (R-VI-562-659); (R-VII-660-676)

As stated above, in 2001, the 1994 COPs (R-VII-677-679) were refunded and the proceeds were used to refund and defease, in full, the 1994 COPs and to pay the cost of issuing the 2001 COPs (R-VIII-1012-1040), however, no material changes were made to the documents that establish the State's equitable ownership. The Property Appraiser has raised no issue or argument that the 2001 COPs financing documents were materially different from the 1994 COPs financing documents.

The 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement used in the instant case is a finance lease that is treated as a capital lease under the Internal Revenue Code and under relevant governmental accounting standards. The court below took judicial notice of Governmental Accounting Standards Board, Statement 13, as adopted by Chapter 10.550 of the Rules of the State of Florida Auditor General. (R-IV-151-153)

This concept has been recognized by the court in *Robbins*, where, under the facts presented the court opined:

There is no question that, had Lessee acquired these properties via a capital lease, Lessee would have been entitled to an ad valorem tax exemption on the properties. Under a capital lease, the leased properties are treated as debt, and, after all lease payments are made to lessor, the lessee acquires title to the property either automatically or by payment of a nominal sum.

Robbins, 748 So. 2d at 350. Because the 1994 Lease-Purchase Agreement is a capital lease, it is treated as debt thereby once again establishing equitable

ownership in the State as the lessee-purchaser. This Court has also recognized that a Lease-Purchase Agreement is a capital lease. *Sarasota County*, 561 So. 2d at 552; *Hartsfield*, 698 So. 2d at 529.

The Property Appraiser contends "that if the lease-purchase agreement operated to transfer equitable ownership to the state from inception, a bond referendum was required by Article VII, Section 11, Florida Constitution, because the state was at that moment the owner and using state taxes to repay the debt." Initial Brief, 32 (emphasis in original). As support for this position, the Property Appraiser relied on the dissenting opinion of Justice McDonald in State v. School Board of Sarasota County, 561 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 1990), which actually addressed Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution rather than Article VII, Section 11 of the Florida Constitution. The Property Appraiser's argument completely ignores the majority holding in the Sarasota County decision involving the corollary provisions of Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, which regulates the issuance of bonds by a unit of local government which are payable from ad valorem taxes. Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, requires a referendum if a local government desires to issue bonds with a maturity of more than twelve months which are payable from ad valorem taxes. Such bonds are customarily referred to as "general obligation bonds" or "full faith and credit

bonds" since the governmental issuer has pledged the full taxing authority of the governmental unit to repay the bonds.

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